

## Journal of Membrane Science & Research

journal homepage: www.msrjournal.com

Review Paper

## An overview of Molecular Simulations Studies in Mixed Matrix Membranes for Gas Separation Processes

Paloma Ortiz-Albo<sup>1</sup>, Hiromitsu Takaba<sup>2</sup>, Izumi Kumakiri<sup>3,\*</sup>, João G. Crespo<sup>1</sup>, Luísa A. Neves<sup>1,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> LAQV/ REQUIMTE, Department of Chemistry, NOVA School of Science and Technology, FCT NOVA, Universidade NOVA de Lisboa, 2829-516 Caparica, Portugal

<sup>2</sup> School of Advanced Engineering, Environmental Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Kogakuin University, 2665-1, Nakano, Hachioji, 192-0015, Tokyo, Japan

<sup>3</sup> Graduate School of Sciences and Technology for Innovation, Yamaguchi University, 7558611, Ube, Japan

# Article info

Received 2022-02-28 Revised 2022-07-24 Accepted 2022-08-02 Available online 2022-08-02

## Keywords

Molecular Simulations Mixed Matrix Membranes Gas Separation Grand Canonical Monte Carlo Molecular Dynamics

## **Graphical abstract**



## Highlights

- Molecular studies in MMMs relevant to evaluate structural and transport properties
- · Different MMM components can be modelled to optimize materials screening
- Novel MMM model design should include interphase analysis
- Model validation supported on experimental data is crucial for emerging materials

## Abstract

Industrial gas separation demands and environmental concerns have motivated the development of membrane technology with a large and evolving variety of novel and advanced materials. In particular, Mixed Matrix Membranes (MMMs), where a combination of a polymer and a filler occurs, can be prepared by infinite combinations between them to benefit from the advantageous properties of polymers and fillers. However, not all the pairs lead to obtain an enhanced membrane material. To reduce and optimize the experimental effort, the use of high-throughput screening computational studies has become an important assessment tool to evaluate the introduction of novel fillers inside different polymers and their modifications. Furthermore, the use of molecular simulations adds an attractive source of phenomenological atomical-level understanding of the modeled system and separation, being possible to test multiple potential gas separation processes is presented. Simultaneously, it aims to help the reader to understand and distinguish the different alternatives to gather the desired phenomenological information and how to approach atomistic studies from experimental data for MMMs, presenting their advantages and limitations. Future perspectives and methodologies linked to non-ideal MMMs behavior will be also addressed. The most recent and trending advances in this topic can be highlighted as the transition to newer fillers, the incorporation of a third material in the membrane system, and the defect engineering at the interphase.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2022 FIMTEC & MPRL. All rights reserved.

Membrane

## Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. State-of-the-art of Simulation Approaches in MMMs	2

\* Corresponding author: Luísa A. Neves (lan11892@fct.unl.pt), Izumi Kumakiri (izumi.k@yamaguchi-u.ac.jp) DOI: 10.22079/JMSR.2022.549436.1536

2.1. Single Component Modeling of porous fillers	4
2.2. Two Components – MMMs	5
2.2.1. Metal Oxides, Silica, and Carbon	5
2.2.2. Zeolites	6
2.2.3. Metal-Organic Frameworks	6
2.2.4. Other fillers	6
2.3. Three Components - MMMs	6
. Key Experimental Characterizations to Address Emerging Materials	9
3.1. Structural characterization	9
3.2. Gas Performance	9
. Recent Developments and Future Perspective	10
. Conclusions	10
veknowledgments	10
Jomenclature and Acronyms	10
teferences	11

### 1. Introduction

Climate change is causing various environmental problems and requires urgent action. The reduction of carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  and other greenhouse gas emissions is expected to restrict climate change. Membrane separation is considered one of the solutions to address the above challenges [1]. Among various types of membranes, Mixed Matrix Membranes (MMMs), consisting of a polymer and a filler, continue to emerge as a versatile alternative membrane material to be used for gas separation processes. The benefits from polymers and uniformly dispersed fillers to enhance membrane properties and gas separation performance keep motivating the development of new materials and combinations [2,3].

As traditional polymers keep being attractive due to their versatility, low cost, and easy manufacture, more recently developed polymers keep growing as potential alternatives, such as polymers of intrinsic microporosity (PIMs) [2]. On the other hand, numerous fillers and their modifications, with appealing gas separation properties, have been proposed to overcome the trade-off upper bound limit of membrane permeability and selectivity, and improve long-term thermal and mechanical stability of pristine polymers.

A successful preparation of MMMs strongly depends on the compatibility between the selected materials. For example, the poor interactions and affinity between filler and polymer may result in voids formation. The development of non-ideal structures, including voids, pore blockage, polymer rigidification, or particle agglomeration can lead to a decrease in membrane selectivity [4]. Especially for polymers with purely inorganic fillers, such as zeolites, silicabased materials, or carbon-based materials, the preparation of defect-free MMMs is challenging [5,6]. Therefore, fillers with a hybrid organic-inorganic nature, such as metal-organic frameworks (MOFs), and emerging pure porous organic materials, such as covalent organic frameworks (COFs) and porous organic cages (POCs) have attracted interest in the last years [7]. An alternative for improving the interaction of polymer-filler in MMMs can be the modification of the filler external groups or the incorporation of a third component to act as a plasticizer, such as ionic liquids (ILs) [8,9]. Gathering the continuously emerging novel materials and their infinite combinations, it becomes unrealistic to experimentally assess all of them to determine their feasibility for target gas separation processes. The motivation to use computational studies instead of a purely experimental study strongly relies on the associated high cost and time consumption of experimentally testing the potential combinations of materials [10]. There is still a need of extending molecular simulations methods to multicomponent membranes, along with their atomistic description, their microstructure, and the importance of the interphase analysis and its role on gas transport.

In this regard, Keskin and Altinkaya (2019) [11] gathered several simulation works for MOF-based MMMs and described the role of computational studies. They identified the potential of combining experimental work and molecular simulations to provide fundamental knowledge of membrane properties and gas separation at atomic scale. The filler screening through high-throughput molecular simulations unlocks the potential of certain materials for different gas separations. They highlighted the use of molecular simulations (MS) in membranes for gas separation to describe membrane properties and their role in gas separation, causing an increase in the simulation works in the last years.

As guidance for future research efforts, this review provides updated analysis and new trends of the current state-of-the-art of molecular simulations and atomistic computational studies for MMMs in gas separation processes. A condensed description of the simulation works in the literature, highlighting the simulation methodology and the nature of the filler, has been gathered. This review is organized in two sections. First, it discusses how emerging materials, and their combinations might optimize experimental efforts to later be considered for their atomistic modeling. The strategy followed consisted in gathering the most common experimental techniques to complement/validate MMM simulations in new materials. Secondly, the prospects and future trends of computational studies were theorized considering the current state-of-theart, where different approaches and methodologies for atomistic modeling of MMMs are considered.

#### 2. State-of-the-art of Simulation Approaches in MMMs

The most typical method to model and predict MMMs behavior has been through the gas performance properties from the individual pristine materials (polymer and filler) and mathematically combining them into the MMM gas permeability results, resulting in the so-called macroscopic permeation models. These models have been developed over the years to include more details about the defects and non-ideality behavior of gas transport. Keskin and Altinkaya [11] also gathered in their review several computational approaches for MOFbased MMMs and described the macroscopic models as resistance-based models, effective medium theory-based models, and simulation-based rigorous models. Regarding the depicted as effective medium theory-based models, MMM permeability is evaluated as a combination of the filler permeability, the filler volumetric loading, and the polymer permeability, where the filler is dispersed. The potential models can be classified as the ones in which only ideal behaviors are assumed, as the traditional Maxwell Model, and the models assuming non-ideal effects. The latter model approaches a more detailed description of the microstructure, non-idealities in the polymer-filler interphase, and effects such as filler shape (ideal or non-ideal morphology), filler packaging, polymer rigidification, and interphase voids (Fig. 1). These macroscopic models along with their assumptions and limitations are summarized in Table 1 [11,12].



Fig. 1. Scheme of ideal and non-ideal MMM structures.

However, these models, while effective and practical in providing information, are still far from describing fundamental information about the causes of these non-ideal structures and their role in gas separation.

Conversely, molecular simulations (MS) are a powerful tool to model and study materials properties at the molecular level based on intermolecular interactions and have been extensively applied in membrane technology [10]. There are two commonly used methods for the permeation description of gases in MMMs: Grand Canonical Monte Carlo (GCMC) simulations, and Molecular Dynamics (MD) Simulations. The GCMC method involves stochastic simulations with statistical thermodynamics to construct equilibrium configurations. The chemical potential, volume, and temperature are kept constant in GCMC simulations, while the energy and number of particles from a penetrant reservoir in a system, that is, the membrane, fluctuate to achieve an equilibrium state. The typical application for this type of simulation consists in determining the sorption properties of the system for gases. Sorption isotherms are frequently determined considering a constant composition and a range of gas fugacity. The convergence of the system to a certain number of gas molecules will provide the corresponding gas sorption at a specific fugacity. GCMC simulations, however, will not provide any time evolution of the properties of the synamic behavior.

On the other hand, MD is based on classical mechanics, more interestingly applied for diffusion analysis. They have been typically divided into Equilibrium Molecular Dynamics (EMD) and Non-Equilibrium Molecular Dynamics (NEMD) simulations. In these simulations, the evolution of the system and the gas penetrants are followed over time, along with their thermodynamic and dynamic properties as average of their trajectory. The prediction of the membrane properties along time can be performed on a fully flexible or constrained system. A statistical ensemble can also be considered, using macroscopic constraints (number of particles, volume, energy, temperature) to allow the estimation of the thermodynamic properties. However, the EMD simulation does not provide direct information about the transport of molecules under a chemical potential gradient. Still, it is possible to relate the dynamic behavior of gas molecules in the system through the selfdiffusion coefficient, which is related to the movement of the molecules in the system.

EMD simulations are typically performed in a three-dimensional periodic cell in which the movement of the penetrant molecules does not suffer an external force. NEMD, on the contrary, describes the membrane as a layer, considering the chemical potential gradient-driven transport of molecules from the designed feed side to the permeate side, and therefore, molecular fluxes can be calculated directly from the simulation. Therefore, external forces will not allow the achievement of the equilibrium of the system, fixing the external gradient in one direction. The advantages of each approach differ in the closeness of the simulation to an actual gas permeating system. While NEMD simulations provide an attractive molecular-level detailed membrane separation process, the high computational effort and time required have strongly limited its application to complex systems, being strongly dependent on the system thickness and structural wideness of the modeled material. Keskin et al. [21] prepared a MOF membrane layer of approximately 4-5 nm, and compared the results from both approaches (EMD and NEMD) requiring several days for NEMD simulation for what it would spend hours in EMD simulations with the same computational resource. Then, Semino et al. [22] compared the use of NEMD simulations with a higher layer thickness in filler (29.8 nm), polymer (40.1 nm), and MMM (93.6 nm), showing the potential of atomical level understanding of NEMD simulations for MMMs with considering void effect correctly, which cannot be obtained by the separated simulation of filler and polymer. Additionally, the thickness considered in this study was closer to the ones found in thin film composite (TFC) membranes [23], in which the selective layer can be a MMM over porous support. The support provides mechanical stability to the membrane, being possible to drastically reduce the thickness of a selective MMM layer. These selective and dense MMM with fillers, such as MOFs, can range from near 200 nm to a few micrometers, and thus, the use of NEMD simulations with these thicknesses can be representative of those types of membranes [22].

Hereinafter, it is presented a comprehensive state-of-the-art summary of the different studies reported in the literature including atomistic computational calculations for MMMs in gas separation processes. The variable selected for the classification has been the number of components considered in the molecular simulation (single, two, or three), and the main discussion is focused on the materials and methodology used in each work. As a guide through the gathered works, details regarding the materials used, target gas separation, approach selected, and objective of the simulation study are summarized in Table 2.

### Table 1

MMM permeation models [11,12] along with their main assumptions and limitations. Schematic representation makes reference to Fig. 1 where non-ideal structures are shown.

Model	Schematic	Description
Maxwell [13]		<ul> <li>Simplest and most used model</li> <li>Ideal morphology</li> <li>Valid for low loadings (≤20wt.%)</li> <li>Assumes that streamlines around spherical particles are not affected by nearby particles</li> <li>Does not account for particle size distribution, particle shape and aggregation of particles</li> </ul>
Extended Maxwell [14]		<ul> <li>Generally applicable to dilute suspension of spherical particles</li> <li>Accounts the correction for interactions between particles and introduces the reduced permeation polarization as a factor</li> </ul>
Modified Maxwell (two-phase) [15]		<ul> <li>Accounts the effects of polymer chains rigidification at the polymer-filler interphase</li> <li>Based on two-phase descriptions (polymer and particles-interphase-pseudo-inert phase)</li> <li>Does not account for particles size distribution, shape and aggregation of particles</li> <li>For low and moderate values of filler loading (≤20wt.%)</li> </ul>
Modified Maxwell (four-phase) [16]		<ul> <li>Considers chain rigidification, pore blockage effect and particle aggregation</li> <li>Permeation is modeled considering four phases: Phase 1 – polymer matrix, Phase 2 – chain rigidification, Phase 3 – nanoparticles and particle blockage layer, Phase 4 – particle aggregate layer</li> <li>Low-moderate filler loading (≤20wt.%)</li> </ul>
Maxwell-Wagner-Sillars	•	<ul> <li>Filler is ellipsoid. No interaction between the particles</li> <li>Low-moderate filler loading (≤20wt.%)</li> </ul>
Bruggeman [17]	•	<ul> <li>No defects in the polymer-particle interface</li> <li>Similar limitations to the Maxwell approach</li> </ul>
Modified Bruggeman (pseudo-two phase) [16]		<ul> <li>Considers the formation of voids in the interphase layer of MMM. Pseudo two-phase region – matrix and filler plus void region</li> </ul>
Lewis-Nielsen [18]	۹? م	<ul> <li>No defects in the polymer-particle interface</li> <li>Valid for a broader range of filler concentration (up to maximum packing volume fraction = 0.64)</li> <li>Effect of morphology related to particle size distribution, particle shape, and aggregation of particles. Without this consideration, it is simplified to the Maxwell model.</li> </ul>
Pal [19]	<b>•</b> ?	• Effect of morphology related to particle size distribution, particle shape, and aggregation of particles. Without this consideration, it is simplified to Bruggeman model.
Modified Pal (pseudo-two phase) [16]		<ul> <li>Polymer matrix and interfacial rigidified matrix chains</li> </ul>
Felske [20]		<ul> <li>Dispersed particles as a core</li> <li>Surrounding interfacial layer (rigidified layer, voids, or particle pore blockage) as shell</li> <li>Model reduced to Maxwell model if interlayer is absent</li> </ul>
Modified Felske [16]	•?	<ul> <li>Particle morphology and packaging factor</li> <li>Reduced to Felske model or Lewis-Nielson model or Maxwell model depending on simplification</li> </ul>

### 2.1. Single component modeling of porous fillers

Several works, led by Keskin *et al.* [11], have focused on performing hybrid high-throughput filler screening for target gas separations or performing a broad analysis to determine the most feasible separation. These studies emphasized the versatility of atomic-level theoretical modeling of MOFs along with experimental permeation data from polymers.

The protocol followed reflects on the independent modeling of sorption properties from the dynamic gas behavior in the desired filler: GCMC simulations for gas sorption, and EMD simulations for gas transport. Fig. 2 depicts this methodology including the necessary equation previously described. The simulation conditions, such as target gas, temperature, and pressure, are typically selected to represent experimental data. GCMC simulations were performed to determine the pure gas sorption isotherms at a defined temperature. Porous fillers are typically characterized by gas uptake isotherms, being a useful and fast approach to validate the forcefield selection of the filler. Additionally, the GCMC simulations allow to obtain the number of gas molecules at a specific pressure and temperature, which is typically used for the next EMD simulation. Therefore, it is advantageous to sequentially perform these simulations in this sequence. GCMC simulations were used for several key aspects before performing further simulations: fast filler forcefield validation through gas sorption isotherms, the calculation of the number of gas molecules at specific conditions, and the prepared filler framework with the corresponding gas molecules for the dynamic simulation. EMD simulations in this approach consist in performing a NPT ensemble dynamic simulation (constant number of particles, pressure, and temperature) which allows for the calculation of the self-transport diffusivity using Einstein relation of the meansquare displacement of gas molecules [24,25]. The self-diffusivity includes interactions with the filler framework and other gas molecules. To convert the self-diffusivity to transport diffusivity, a relation through the loadingdependent corrected diffusivity and thermodynamic factor was used (Eq. 1 in Fig. 2). The latter can be calculated by analytical differentiation of the fitted gas sorption isotherm from GCMC simulations [26].

Using the calculated transport diffusivity and Fick's Law [27] (Eq. 2 in Fig. 2), a flux was estimated using as a gradient the molar concentrations. The gas permeability was ultimately calculated through the theoretical flux (Eq. 3 in Fig. 2). Then, the estimated filler permeability was used, along with experimentally known polymer permeation data through the macroscopic permeation models from Table 1 to determine the MMM gas permeability at different filler loadings.

Using the crystallography information from Cambridge Data Base (CDB) and rigid framework, Erucar, and Keshin [28] modeled the transport properties of 16 different MOFs to later be combined with experimentally 7 potential polymers for  $H_2/CH_4$  and  $CO_2/CH_4$  separations. They analyzed the loading influence using Maxwell and modified Felske models compared with other potential models such as modified Maxwell, Bruggeman, Lewis-Nielson, Pal, and Felske (Table 1). The selection and validation of the atomic model developed were based on the comparison with existing experimentally prepared and tested MMMs.

Through this approach, they successfully determined the most promising MOF and polymer configurations based on the gas separation performance.

The same authors extended their work [29] to other MOFs, and more specifically, Zeolitic Imidazole Framework (ZIF) materials following a similar methodology for  $CO_2/N_2$  separation. Then, in another study [30], the potential of multiple MOFs for CO<sub>2</sub>/CH<sub>4</sub> separation was analyzed. Via atomistic simulations, the performance properties of several MOFs were determined and combined with experimental data of other potential polymers using the Maxwell permeation model. Particularly in this work, the rigid MOF framework was complemented by the analysis of MOF framework flexibility through MD simulations. Due to the high computational time required for the diffusivity analysis in a flexible framework, two structures were compared: narrow pored and large pored frameworks. The latter one suffered a lower impact in its permeability and selectivity than the narrow-pored structure. Similar observations were obtained in a later work [31]. Over five thousand MOFs combined with fourteen different polymers were explored for O2/N2 separation. Variables such as MOF loading, and mixture were included in the study to later evaluated the effect of MOF framework flexibility. While the flexibility assumption affected the narrowed channels of the MOFs, the simplification of the rigid framework allowed a high-throughput analysis of the potential of these materials for a certain separation.

Other works [24,32] following this methodology, focused on ZIFs use along with several polymers studied for a wider range of potential gas applications, and their performance was modeled for H<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>. The authors simulated the ZIFs properties using GCMC+EMD, along with the Maxwell and modified Felske permeation models in theoretical MMMs as previously described (Fig. 2). The validation of the methodology consisted of two parts: pure ZIF-8 and ZIF-90 data, and specific MMMs with selected polymers were evaluated. Most promising combinations were suggested for these new pairs depending on the desired gas separation.

In another single component simulation study, Velioglu and Keskin [21] compared the gas transport properties of MOF-5, Cu-BTC, ZIF-8, and another MOF, called MEFMEQ, for a GCMC+EMD approach over a NEMD simulation for H<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>. NEMD-based simulations allow a more realistic determination of gas transport through a certain material. The gas flux was estimated considering a simulated pressure difference between a gas bath of approximately 90 Å delimited by a graphene layer (feed) and a vacuum space of 200 Å (permeate), separated by the MOF layer (40-50 Å). Most recent work from Zhai et. al. [33] applied their previously developed methodology of dualcontrol plane non-equilibrium molecular dynamics (DCP-NEMD) to determine single and binary gas mixture permeation at different temperatures. They applied this method, especially for CAU-1, an aluminum-based aminefunctionalized MOF, with a simulated membrane thickness of 3.55 nm. Each simulation works modeled transport in one direction, while considering periodic boundary conditions in the other two. However, in the first case, a fixed pressure of gas was considered to permeate through the membrane along time, while in the second, the DCP-NEMD considered two plane controls, in the high-pressure compartment (feed) and in the low-pressure compartment (permeate). These plane controls generate and delete gas molecules on each side of the membrane layer, to maintain a constant driving force through the membrane. Therefore, the first case represents a closed permeation system with a varying driving force, while the second represents a continuous open system.



Data from Experimental conditions

Fig. 2. Schematic representation of GCMC+EMD methodology followed for single-component modeling. Embedded equations refer to transport diffusivity calculation from loading dependence correction (Eq. 1), Fick's Law (Eq. 2), and gas permeability calculation (Eq. 3), where *T* is the temperature;  $D_t$ , the transport diffusivity coefficient;  $D_o$ , the corrected diffusivity coefficient; *f*, gas fugacity; *c*, gas concentration; *J*, flux; *p*, pressure; *L*, membrane thickness and *P*, gas permeability.

The use of computational tools for MOF screening considering several applications as MMMs has been the most used approach for single component atomical studies. However, emerging fillers, such as COFs, [34,35] have also started to take interest in gas separation processes, and therefore, in simulation works. In a first instance, Keskin et al. [36] analyzed the potential of 288 COFs from a computation-ready, experimental (CoRE) COF database prepared by Zhong et. al. [34,35] for CO<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> selective sorption processes using GCMC simulations, to complement the study with MD simulations for the best candidates as COF-based membranes. After analyzing two potential forcefields (UFF and Dreiding forcefield), Dreiding forcefield was selected for all the modeled systems. Then, in another work [37], more than five hundred COFs from Clean, Uniform, and Refined with Automatic Tracking from Experimental Database (CURATED) COFs [38] were modeled for CH<sub>4</sub> separation from H<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub>. In this study, the simulation approach combined GCMC, MD and DFT simulations. While these works did not link their results to potential MMMs, the screening and model definition establish a starting point to effectively analyze the optimal material for a target gas separation in a MMM framework. And thus, COF (and functionalization) and MOF were combined with different polymers in posterior works [39,40] for CH<sub>4</sub>/N<sub>2</sub> separation using versatile polymers, such as PDMS, PEBA or SBS. These studies established a successful starting point to analyze the potential of COFs for gas separation as MMMs.

Nevertheless, the potential of combining GCMC and EMD to be extended to modified fillers through an additional component has also been evaluated. More specifically, several molecular simulation studies for the composites comprising ILs supported by MOFs (commonly designed as IL@MOFs). The interest behind this alternative relies on the improvement of sorption selectivity by the incorporation of an IL. In this regard, simulation studies have successfully extended the previously described methodology (Fig. 2) to describe the sorption and dynamic behavior of several appealing IL-MOF combinations for several gases. Polat et al. [41] analyzed the most suitable generic forcefields (Universal Force Field (UFF) and Drieding) to model IL@Cu-BTC composites with seven different ILs. The incorporation of IL in the Cu-BTC framework consisted of several steps. Firstly, the IL structure was optimized in terms of cation-anion pair orientation, considering that the structures are rigid as computational simplification. Then, their incorporation into the Cu-BTC framework was accomplished through GCMC simulations divided into three moves: translation, rotation, and random translation, followed by an energy optimization algorithm. They successfully obtained gas uptake data representing the experimental sorption data and estimated the gas self-diffusivity considering an infinite dilution system for the dynamic simulation. In a similar approach [42], the incorporation of one molecule of a modified IL with different group tailoring (CH<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, SO<sub>3</sub>H<sup>-</sup>, and NH<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) in ZIF-8 particle was analyzed using GCMC simulations in terms of sorption uptake and ideal sorption selectivity, to later develop experimentally the corresponding MMMs. In this case, the incorporation of modified ILs optimized by density functional theory (DFT) methods in the ZIF-8 cavity was performed through Ab initio molecular dynamics (AIMD) simulations within the canonical ensemble (NVT). Experimentally, the preparation of the composites can be approached through different synthesis routes: ionothermal and post-synthesis modifications [43]. A key factor in these protocols is the effective incorporation at the desired location, e.g. inside the large MOF cavity or at the external surface. In the IL@MOF simulations, the effective incorporation of IL inside the MOF cavity is designed, without considering a partial non-ideal composite.

Posterior works have also used molecular simulations for the evaluation of IL incorporation in the MOF [39,44] and COFs [45] following high-throughput screening analysis. Both studies did not include the combination with different polymers in the computational analysis, being in [44] validated by experimentally prepared IL@MOF composites and MMM. Nevertheless, the reduction of potential candidates for  $CO_2/N_2$  considering thousands of combinations allows future experimental works toward effective  $CO_2$ -selective materials and compare to other types of fillers.

The modeling of a single component, in this case, the filler, has allowed to analyze and screen its potential for different applications. The combination of atomistic modeling of the filler with more elaborated permeation models has the potential to also determine and characterize non-ideal configurations in the filler and the resulting membranes in a versatile approach.

The main challenges faced in this approach have been the extension of this methodology to novel materials. The appropriate selection of the forcefields and atomic methods is the key to effectively model the material. Additionally, as requirements to apply this approach to new materials, experimental permeation data from the desired polymer, extensive experimental characterization, and gas performance from the filler are required for model validation. Moreover, key MMMs experimental data will be needed for validation and check of the selection of an adequate permeation model. In this

sense, simulated databases have motivated and facilitated the extension of these screening methods to other materials, which are relatively common and updated for the described fillers, but, on the contrary for MMMs, scarce for experimentally combined filler/polymer. Moreover, novel and advanced fillers, such as COFs or IL@MOFs, face the difficulty of not possessing enough MMM studies, while their preliminary potential has been already discussed.

#### 2.2. Two Components - MMMs

Inorganic porous materials have been considered as fillers in MMMs due to their molecular sieve properties. The loading of fillers affects the membrane perm-selectivity as increasing the filler concentration will favor, up to a defined load, the permeability and selectivity of the resulting MMMs. However, high filler concentrations may lead to the occurrence of non-ideal structures, which limits the mechanical properties of these membranes and their long-term performance. Accordingly, there is usually an optimum loading. One way to find this optimum is to fabricate MMMs with different loadings. The use of simulation tools is another way, of combining the modeling of the desired polymer and filler for different loadings. In contrast to the cases from Section 2.1., herein the molecular simulation studies involve the modeling of filler and polymer simultaneously. The research works using the simulation of polymer and filler in a single system are organized depending on the nature of the filler: metal oxides, silica and carbon-based materials, zeolites, metal-organic frameworks, and others.

### 2.2.1. Metal Oxides, Silica, and Carbon

Amirkhani et al. [46] and Riasat Harami et al. [47] investigated the influence of loading in MMMs consisting of two metal oxides: zinc oxide (ZnO) and iron oxide III (Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), respectively, along with the thermoplastic elastomer poly (amide-6-b-ethylene oxide) (or PEBA). Both works combined experimental membrane characterization and MS to analyze the metal oxide filler in terms of solubility and diffusivity coefficients through GCMC and EMD, respectively. This combination of GCMC and EMD has been typically used for other simulation works described in this Section 2.2.. On the contrary to the filler cases, in MMM modeling, GCMC simulations are used to determine the modeled membrane solubility coefficient through the determination of sorption isotherms. Then, the gas molecules at a defined pressure and temperature are inserted through GCMC simulation. Then, the sorbed gas molecules are utilized to perform a EMD simulation, which will describe their dynamic behavior in the membrane cell. For both studies, loadings below 2wt.% were simulated and optimal loadings considering CO2 permeability against CH<sub>4</sub> [46] and N<sub>2</sub> [47], temperature and pressure were obtained for both systems.

Similarly, silica nanoparticles dispersed in poly(1-trimethylsilyl-1propyne) [PTMSP] [48] were simulated. The dynamic behavior of several gases (H<sub>2</sub>, O<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, n-C<sub>4</sub>H<sub>10</sub>) was determined at different loadings in the polymer, from 20 to 60wt.%. Additionally, particle size was analyzed by maintaining the silica loading constant but using particles with diverse radii. The highest membrane performance was obtained with the smallest particle size modeled. The authors also determined the thermodynamic data for pure polymer and optimal MMM structures. Analyzing the total system energy, a positive effect from the addition of particles in the membrane mechanical stability was observed. Modarress et al. [49] analyzed nanosized silica particles in polysulfone for O<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>. They initially compared condensedphase optimized molecular potential for atomistic simulation studies (COMPASS), polymer-consistent force field (PCFF), and Dreiding force field for membrane unit simulation and compared membrane density to experimental data from elsewhere [50]. A COMPASS forcefield was selected as the most suitable, and gas sorption and diffusion were analyzed considering bulk periodic units. In two posterior studies, the dispersion of different amounts of silica nanoparticles in PS was analyzed considering different CO<sub>2</sub>/CH<sub>4</sub> binary mixtures composition [51] and the effect of different polymorphs of SiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles ( $\alpha$ -Quartz,  $\alpha$ -Cristobalite,  $\alpha$ -Tridymite) [52]. In both cases, the methodology followed consisted in the combination of GCMC and EMD simulations to determine the solubility, diffusivity and permeability coefficients for different filler loadings and gas mixtures. Additionally, qualitative analysis of selective sorption sites depending on the filler and gas mixtures was discussed.

Pasquinwlli et al. [53] simulated the interactions between rigid Poly-(pphenylene biphenyltetracarboximide) (BPDA–PDA) and multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs). They analyzed different morphologies, arrangements, and loadings of MWCNTs in the polymer matrix, focusing on their structural and mechanical properties depending on the filler and its orientation in the polymeric matrix.

## 2.2.2. Zeolites

In one of their works, Harami et al. [54,55], summarized a methodology to perform the modeling of MMMs composed by LTA zeolite in polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) considering GCMS and EMD. In [54], the study was focused on the effect of the temperature and filler loading on the sorption properties of several gases (H<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and C<sub>3</sub>H<sub>8</sub>). EMD simulations were carried out to prepare and characterize the simulated membranes in terms of X-ray diffraction and glass transition temperature with zeolite loadings up to 50% in PDMS, sorption distribution was also analyzed. Other of their works considered zeolites as fillers in MMMs and followed similar methods including FAU zeolite in polyether block amide (PEBA) [56,57]. These studies used the same methodology, constructing a bulk amorphous cell composed of the polymer chains and the filler. Particularly, the effect of d-spacing of the polymeric chains was analyzed by building the MMM unit at a lower temperature [57].

Another computational study combined with experimental work considering the functionalization of FAU zeolite with different groups (-SO<sub>3</sub> from Nafion and -NH<sub>2</sub> from 3-aminopropyl triethoxysilane (APTEOS)), combined with PEBA as the polymeric matrix, for CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub> [58]. In this study, the bulk construction cell was prepared similarly to other works, combining the filler (functionalized when applied) with PEBA chains considering different loadings. GCMC and EMD simulations were performed and successfully compared to the corresponding experimental data considering loadings from 0.5 to 5wt.%. Effects of the gas mixture, temperature, and operating pressure were also considered in the study.

Contrasting to the previously described works, Dutta and Bhatia [59] focused their study on describing the interactions of zeolite and polymer at the atomic level. They designed a layer-based unit cell, in which the MFI zeolite unit cell was sandwiched between two polyimide polymer-filled regions. The research was oriented to determine the role of polymer rigidification and filler particle size on CO<sub>2</sub>/CH<sub>4</sub> sorption and dynamic behavior.

#### 2.2.3. Metal-Organic Frameworks

MS can be used to understand the microstructure of MMMs. A periodic unit composed of ZIF-7 and polybenzimidazole (PBI) polymer was prepared to perform GCMC and EMD simulations for H<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> separation [60]. They analyzed the effect of ZIF-7 loading in the membrane considering 1 to 3 ZIF-7 clusters in the polymer. The maximum void size per membrane, depending on filler loading, was analyzed. The maximum void size per membrane was found to increase with an increase in loading. Additionally, as in previous GCMC+EMD studies, gas sorption and transport were evaluated in the bulk unit and compared with gas permeation experimental data at high temperatures, obtaining a fair agreement between both. The use of computational studies has been also utilized to analyze non-ideal microstructures, such as the case of polymer rigidification in the interphase [61]. In this study, CO<sub>2</sub> high-pressure was exposed to the ZIF-8/Matrimid®5218 structure to analyze the interphase and the ZIF-8 structural properties. The modeled system was validated by the agreement of experimental sorption data with sorption isotherms produced by GCMC simulations.

Then, the interest in the analysis of the interphase MOF/polymer resulted in the use of a different methodology using atomistic studies. Semino et al. [62] developed a methodology to analyze the interactions of MOF/polymer by combining Density Functional Theory (DFT) calculations and force field-based simulations. The approach relied on the correct independent model of both components, followed by the use of DFT calculations to determine the most stable arrangement of the materials as layers, especially attending to the terminal functional groups. Factors such as interaction sites, filler external surface coverage, porosity, and polymer rigidity were evaluated through radial distribution and rotation angles of specific groups in the interface, free volume, and pore size distribution, among others. This methodology was later extended to other works. UiO-66 with PIM-1, polystyrene (PS), polyethylene glycol (PEG) as polymers, and HKUST-1 with poly(vinyl alcohol) were also evaluated in Semino et al. [63,64], respectively. In Semino et. al. [65], combining once again ZIF-8 and PIM-1, the effect of including defects on ZIF-8 in ZIF-8/polymer interphase was analyzed. A "defect containing" ZIF-8 was designed as a result of leaving out the terminal atoms on the ZIF-8 unit: -OH groups and imidazole moieties linked to Zn external atoms. These modifications at the terminal groups led to minor changes in the interphase. However, these studies did not include any gas separation in their analysis. However, posterior studies have introduced simulated gas permeation studies with the constructed layer-by-layer membrane. MOFs such as UiO-66 [66,67], ZIF-8 [22], ZIF-67 [68] and NUS-CO2 [69] have been studied combined with several high permeable polymers. For the study of ZIF-67 [68], the layer was introduced to model a composite membrane, where the dense layer was composed of a MMM. GCMC simulations were utilized to determine the sorption properties in the membrane, being able to determine the sorption selectivity along the membrane structure, and more especially at the interphase. For the dynamic behavior in this type of structure, NEMD methodology was applied, specifically called concentration gradient driven MD (CGD-MD) [22]. The transport of the molecules through the different layers was quantified along with the membrane structure and their residence time. In this regard, a specific study [67] focused on the effect of defect-engineered UiO-66 nanoparticles with crosslinked poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGDA) was carried out. In this work, two potential UiO-66 structures (non-defective and with missing linkers) were compared in terms of sorption and dynamic studies for CO2/N2 separation. The authors used a macroscopic model in a reverse use of the model (from MMM to single filer/polymer permeability) to quantify the effect of those engineered defects in the experimentally prepared membranes. Therefore, the combination of the layer-by-layer membrane preparation approach with NEMD studies allowed to obtain fundamental information in terms of gas transport along with the different components, and at their interphase. Furthermore, the tunability characteristic of MOFs have also motivated the introduction of targeted defect engineering which had a key impact at the interphase. These recent studies present an initiative of analyzing non-ideal structures from the fillers and the corresponding effect on the polymer.

#### 2.2.4. Other fillers

Porous Organic Cages have also been included as fillers in MMMs and analyzed by molecular simulations. Kong and Liu [70] performed a NEMD simulation, mimicking a gas permeation experiment, with a MMM composed of a porous organic cage (CC3) embedded in a PIM-1 polymer matrix. They simulated the gas transport following the solution-diffusion model and the driving force was kept constant with a Constant Pressure Difference MD Simulation (CPDMD) in which the gas transported through the membrane is added again to the feed side. Two mixing methods were followed, considering different sizes of the CC3 to be mixed in the polymeric matrix, showing the most favorable results for larger CC3 particles and in fair agreement with experimentally observed behaviors.

Another work using CC3 and 6FDA-DAM as polymeric matrix [71] studied the separation mechanism of  $C_3H_6$  and  $C_3H_8$  combining GCMC simulations and EMD comparing polymeric membrane to 20wt.% of dispersed CC3 following a bulk approach. The separation improvement by including the highly porous filler was successfully attributed to an upgrade in the diffusivity selectivity towards  $C_3H_6$ . The analysis of the trajectory of the molecules from EMD allowed to associate the selectivity improvement to the window and cavity size of CC3.

The modeling of both filler and polymer in the same system has provided practical information regarding structural and gas separation properties. Different approaches have been followed, being the most followed a combination of sorption and dynamics simulations, instead of NEMD simulations. Trending fillers are still predominantly focused on MOFs, with a few works focused on other fillers, which still leaves work to extend these methods to new appealing fillers, such as the novel COFs highlighted in Section 2.1., and novel polymers.

#### 2.3. Three Components - MMMs

Few studies are published combining more than two components (polymer and filler), as the ones gathered in Section 2.2. However, recent studies have approached a ternary system, which goes along the trend in terms of experimental works. The motivation for including further modifications in a typical binary MMM gathers from the need of overcoming the limitations of existing MMMs concerning materials' compatibility issues and the search for a higher separation performance. Harami et al. [72] analyzed the gas separation performance along with the structural characteristics of polycarbonate filled with p-nitroaniline and LTA zeolite. In this work, p-nitroaniline was utilized as a plasticizer and co-dispersed along with zeolite particles in the polymeric matrix. Regarding the computational study, a bulk periodic system was prepared with different loadings, and several gases were considered (CH4, CO2, H<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub>) to analyze their potential. GCMC and EMD simulations were used to analyze the structural properties of gas transport. Experimental work was combined with molecular simulations to analyze the effect of including an IL in a MMM composed of PEBAX polymer and  $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> particles [73]. The membrane was prepared as a bulk, where gas permeability was also calculated using combining EMD and GCMC. Two different ILs were compared by modifying  $\gamma$ -Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> particles prior to their utilization in the preparation of MMMs. the molecular simulations allowed to relate the membrane separation improvement, separately in terms of solubility and diffusivity, to the chemistry of each IL.

As previously mentioned, one typical approach is the inclusion of an IL in the membrane, and the enhanced results have opened the questions of its role in gas separation and membrane properties. Dutta and Bhatia [74] analyzed via MS the gas transport, anti-plasticization, and interfacial interactions between ZIF-8 and 6FDA-durene MMMs, and the impact of the incorporation of IL in the interface. A layer-based membrane was prepared, where the IL was located between MOF and polymer, determining the CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> sorption and transport properties through GCMC and EMD, respectively. Though the gas permeability was compromised, a higher selectivity was reached. The swelling effect of the membranes at higher pressures was determined, showing no apparent negative influence of the IL in the system. The appeal of evaluating the incorporated IL via atomistic simulations also relies on identifying the appropriate combination among the infinite combinations of IL-MOF-polymer, and analyzing the role of IL in each configuration [11].

In this regard, Fig. 3 schematically represents both membrane construction options, enumerating some of the advantages. The bulk description of binary or higher number of components has typically analyzed the effect of filler loading and other process variables, such as temperature, pressure, and mixture composition. The membrane is constructed as a periodic unit cell without orientation in space or driving force for sorption and dynamic studies. Despite this, the membrane prepared in the bulk model is closer to a real MMM system. The filler can be modified prior to incorporation in the polymeric matrix, as in the preparation of IL@MOF composites or modification of radical groups. In case of adding a new element to the MMM, it will randomly incorporate it achieving the equilibrated structure. However, the number of atoms increases when considering the concentration of particles of microporous materials and the homogeneous nature of the system. Especially in a multi-component system with ILs, the degree of freedom of arrangement is large, and a larger number of atoms must be considered in order to create an appropriate model. On the other hand, the layer method is focused on understanding the polymer-filler interphase impact along with gas transport, facilitating its description through each material/interphase. Additionally, it reduces such degrees of freedom and focuses on the phenomena of interest. For the gas molecules transported through the membrane, it is first assumed that diffusing molecules always penetrate the interior of the microporous material. This process is reasonable by the fact that MMM uses the high diffusion coefficient in microporous materials to achieve a high permeability. Also, the layer-based model has a larger fraction of the interfaces than the bulk model. This means that diffusion through interfaces can be simulated more efficiently and with a high control degree.

Simultaneously, attending to other recent simulation works, different from MMMs, most recent advances in simulation studies for polymeric studies have approached other phenomena such as plasticization [75,76], the effect of water and solvent from the preparation routes [77]. Phenomena such as plasticization of polymers at interfaces can also be simulated in the layer-by-layer model more efficiently than in the bulk model. However, in actual MMM, not all molecules are diffusing in a porous material, and there may be various diffusion paths. In addition, multi-component separation systems are more complicated. For such problems, the layer-based model is not very informative, and the bulk model gives results closer to real systems.

Nevertheless, both approaches allowed for obtaining a comprehensive description, characterization, and analysis at a fundamental level of the membrane and its components. In addition, their relative simplicity, especially in the bulk approach, has motivated their extension to other membrane systems, from pristine polymeric structures to three-component membrane structures and diverse types of fillers. However, they require an extensive experimental characterization, and novel combinations are limited to well-described components. Additionally, observations at an atomic level will be hardly confirmed with experimental techniques. These matters will be more extensively discussed in Section 3.



Fig. 3. Schematic classifications of approaches followed for MMMs conjunct construction models of polymer/filler in molecular dynamics and potential advantages for their selection.

#### Table 2

Summary of molecular simulation works for gas separation processes in MMMs

Filler	Filler	Polymer	Gas	No. of components	Approach	Target	Ref.
Metal oxide	Fe <sub>2</sub> O3	PEBA	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	Π	GCMC + EMD	Material description	[47]
	ZnO	PEBA	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	Π	GCMC + EMD	Material description	[46]
Silica	Silica	PS	O <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	п	GCMC + EMD	Material description Selection of suitable force field	[49]
	Silica	PTMSP	H <sub>2</sub> , O <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , n- C <sub>4</sub> H <sub>10</sub>	П	MD	Material description Particle size impact	[48]
	Silica	PS	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	П	GCMC + EMD	Filler loading and process variables description (gas mixture	[51]
	Silica (different polymorphs)	PS	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	П	GCMC + EMD	Filler morphology, filler loading effect, process variable effect	[52]
Carbon	MWCNTs	BPDA-PDA	-	п	Force field description and MD	Structural analysis – filler morphology and mechanical stability	[53]

## Table 2 (continue)

Filler	Filler	Polymer	Gas	No. of components	Approach	Target	Ref.
Zeolite	Silicalite	PI	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	Π	GCMC + EMD (layer system)	Materials description Polymer-filler interphase analysis Particle size effect	[59]
	Zeolite 13X	PEBA	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	II	GCMC + EMD	Materials description	[56]
	FAU	PEBA	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	Π	GCMC + EMD	Materials description Effect of temperature in preparation	[57]
	Zeolite 4A	PDMS	H <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>1</sub>	Π	GCMC + EMD	Materials description	[54]
	Zeolite 4A	PDMS	H <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>1</sub>	п	GCMC + EMD	Materials description	[55]
	FAU, FAU-SO <sub>3</sub> , FAU-NH <sub>2</sub>	PEBA	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	Π	GCMC + EMD	Materials description External functionalization	[58]
MOF	ZIF-8	PIM-1	-	II	Combination of DFT and Force field MS	Structural analysis of polymer-filler interphase	[62]
	ZIF-8	PIM-1	-	Π	Combination of DFT and Force field MS	Structural analysis of polymer-filler interphase and MOF defects	[65]
	UiO-66	PIM-1, PVDF, PS, PEG	-	Π	Combination of DFT and Force field MS	Structural analysis of polymer-filler interphase	[63]
	HKUST-1	PVA	-	II	Combination of DFT and Force field MS	Structural analysis of polymer-filler interphase	[64]
	NUS-8	PIM-1	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	п	GCMC + NEMD (layer system)	Sorption and transport description along membrane, interphase analysis	[66]
	UiO-66	PEGDA	CO <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	п	GCMC + EMD (layer system)	Sorption and transport description along membrane, interphase analysis, defect engineering	[67]
	ZIF-67	PEBA and PES (support)	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	п	GCMC + EMD	MMM and composite membrane analysis	[68]
	NUS-8	PIM-1	CO <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	П	GCMC + NEMD (layer system)	Sorption and transport description along membrane, interphase analysis, MOF functionalization	[69]
	ZIF-8	PIM-1	CH4, H2	Π	GCMC + NEMD (layer system)	Comparison of layer-by-layer to single filler/polymer modelling	[22]
	ZIF-7	PBI	H <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub>	Π	GCMC + EMD	Material description	[60]
	ZIF-8	РА	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	Π	GCMC + MD	Plasticization effects under high pressure	[61]
	16 different MOFs from CSB	PI (several grades) Hyflon AD60X, Teflon AF-2400, PTMSP, among others	H <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	Ι	GCMC+EMD – Maxwell/modified Felske models	Screening	[28]
	Cu-BTC, ZIF-8, IRMOF-1, ZIF-8, ZIF-90	PDMS, PS, PI, Matrimid, Ultem, PPEES, 6FDA- DAM	CO <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	Ι	GCMC+EMD – permeation models	Screening Framework flexibility of the filler particles, filler loading and operation temperature	[29]
	16 different MOFs from CSB	CA, Matrimid, PS, SPEEK- 3, PEBA, 6FDA-DAM, PIM-1	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	Ι	GCMC+EMD – permeation models	Screening Flexible MOF structure impact	[30]
	5629 MOFs from CoRE MOF (2019)	PSF, Matrimid, PU, PPEES, and ODPA-TMA, among others	$O_{2,}N_{2}$	Ι	GCMC+EMD – permeation models	Screening Flexible MOF structure impact	[31]
	15 different types of ZIFs	PI (several grades) Hyflon AD60X, Teflon AF-2400, PTMSP, among others	H2, CO2, CH4, N2	Ι	GCMC+EMD – Maxwell/modified Felske models	Screening	[32]
	9 different types of ZIFs	Matrimid, Ultem, 6FDA- DAM, and PPEES	H <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	Ι	GCMC+EMD – permeation models	Screening	[24]
	MOF-5, Cu-BTC, ZIF-8, MEFMEQ	-	H <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	I	GCMC+EMD NEMD	Materials and performance description Methodology applicability	[21]
	CAU-1	-	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , H <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub> , He, Kr and Xe	Ι	NEMD	Gas transport description (pure and mixture)	[33]
COF	288 COFs from CoRE COF database	-	CO <sub>2</sub> , H <sub>2</sub>	Ι	GCMC+EMD – permeation models	Screening of novel materials, description of forcefield and potential candidates for target separation	[36]
	572 COFs from CURATED COF database	-	H <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	Ι	GCMC, EMD, DFT	Screening for target separation, forcefield and simulation model analysis	[37]
	41 3D and 268 2D from CoRE COF database	PDMS, PEBA, PIM-7, SBS	CH4, N2	Ι	GCMC+EMD – permeation models	Screening for target separation	[40]
POC	CC3	PIM-1	CO <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	Π	NEMD	Materials and performance description Preparation, materials mixing analysis	[70]
	CC3	6FDA-DAM	C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>6</sub> , C <sub>3</sub> H <sub>8</sub>	Ш	GCMC + EMD	Mechanism study and comparison to experimental data	[71]
Zeolite + plasticizer	Zeolite 4A + p- nitrolaniline	PC	H <sub>2</sub> , O <sub>2</sub> , CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	III	GCMC + EMD	Materials description	[72]
Alumina + IL	Alumina + IL	PEBA	CO <sub>2</sub> , N <sub>2</sub>	III	GCMC + EMD	Effect of IL incorporation and effect IL chemistry	[73]
MOF+IL	ZIF-8 [BMIM][BF4]	PI	CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub>	III	GCMC + EMD (layer system)	Structural and gas transport analysis of polymer-filler interphase	[74]

## 3. Key Experimental Characterizations to Address Emerging Materials

Molecular simulations are capable of modeling membrane structural properties and gas separation performance. They can be used to identify the best configurations of novel materials for specific gas separation processes and to obtain a fundamental understanding of their performance. However, the definition of the model, assumptions, parameters, the selection of a force field of the constituents, and their interactions strongly affect the calculated membrane properties. Accordingly, the validation of the simulation conditions is important. Approaching a summary of the experimental requirements to support coherently the atomistic modeling, this section aims to gather the most frequent and minimum set of experimental data utilized for MMMs. The criteria behind this list have been supported by taking as base the frequently used techniques from the papers described in previous Section 2.2 and Section 2.3.

Moreover, this section seeks to guide future research works looking forward to optimally combining emerging and novel materials experimental with fundamental atomistic studies for MMMs.

#### 3.1. Structural characterization

Regardless of the membrane construction method followed, adequate structural characterization of the prepared membrane is required. The validation of the constructed model will not only assure the working of a representative model for the gas separation properties, forcefield, and methodology, but also extrapolate the potential observations and analysis. Several structural parameters can be obtained from molecular simulations and compared with experimental data. However, it must be into account the reliability of directly comparing molecular level-specific ideal structures, defects, or interphase layers to experimental values containing all these possible arrangements. To effectively determine the accurateness of a model, one unique structural characteristic will not fulfill the necessary information to validate it. In this section, the most utilized parameters and their challenges are summarized in the following.

The membrane density is described as the weight of the material enclosed in the periodic unit cell. An amorphous system with a low density is constructed by NPT ensemble dynamic simulation (Constant Number of particles, Pressure and Temperature), followed by a NVT ensemble simulation (Constant Number of particles, Volume and Temperature). The objective of this first step in the simulation is to achieve the equilibrium of the cell parameters, density, and energy of the structure. Therefore, the membrane density is a direct parameter obtained from the membrane construction and can roughly be compared to the experimentally estimated membrane density. The simulation time has been required for this construction has varied depending on the size of a cell and components, being typically between 250-500 ps for polymers such PSf and PEBA in a cell of approximately 40 Å [46,51,57]. Another possibility, following the same method, considers the presence of a specific gas fugacity, e.g. CO<sub>2</sub>. This latter option has been previously used to analyze the potential plasticization of polymeric membranes [75,76]. The membrane cell construction follows the same method previously described, with the extra component of CO<sub>2</sub> molecules considering different gas fugacity values, to ultimately compare with gas sorption isotherms. Then, performing a NVT

ensemble simulation equilibrates the membrane cell and reduces the system energy, as the polymeric chains achieve their most stable arrangement. After the equilibration of the structure using NVT, this ensemble is further used to obtain ensemble-averaged properties, such as the structural membrane characteristics (e.g. density, free volume, crystallinity properties), or sorption of gas guest molecules.

Glass transition temperature is commonly referred to in simulation studies and used to validate the model. To calculate the glass transition temperature, the membrane density or the membrane-free volume at different temperatures is modeled for, and afterward, calculate the inflection point of the resulting curve. Following Fox and Flory's theory [49,55,74], the temperature of this point will be the membrane glass transition temperature.

Another structural characteristic that can be of importance is the X-ray diffraction pattern of the polymeric matrix and the fillers. This property can be easily obtained for the bulk structure and compared to experimental data, along with the analysis effect of adding the filler into the membrane crystallinity or d-spacing.

The structural properties described above are mainly analyzed in bulk systems. Once the validation of the materials has been confirmed, the same model characteristics and materials have been employed modifying the membrane construction to a layer-by-layer configuration. In the layer-based model, it is of interest to analyze the change in the membrane density along the cell [63,67,74]. Although possible to similarly perform this analysis in bulk cells, membranes constructed by layers allow for quantifying the interphase or defects size to later relate to gas separation properties.

However, while these parameters can be related to the experimental values, it is highly limited due to the scale of the atomic simulations. The experimentally determined membrane density will not have the accuracy of a periodic cell at the molecular level. Additionally, experimental techniques will not measure the atomic-level defects found in the membranes, and therefore, a unique structural property will not properly validate the system. Therefore, the combination of the characterized membrane cell with the gas separation performance (following Section 3.2.) is key for validation of the modeled membrane.

#### 3.2. Gas Performance

Once the membrane has been constructed adequately, the interactions of different gases with the simulated membrane can be performed. Experimentally, the gas performance of prepared membranes is characterized by the membrane permeability towards a specific gas. On the other hand, in molecular simulations, the gas performance description is not straightforward. The utilization of membrane-like simulations, such as NEMD, offers a description of the permeation considering the solution-diffusion model directly. However, the most typical approach has been to separate the sorption and diffusion phenomena, similarly to the single-component simulations (Fig. 2), which require a set of assumptions regarding the gas behavior. Fig. 4 gathers a schematic representation of the typical methodology to determine the gas permeability using GCMC and EMD simulations. This approach has been widely followed for two and three-component modeling following a bulk membrane preparation.



Fig. 4. Schematic representation of GCMC+EMD methodology followed for MMMs. Embedded equations refer to the Solubility coefficient calculation (Eq. 5), and calculation of the diffusivity coefficient from the mean square displacement of gas molecules (Eq. 6).

The sorption behavior has been typically described through gas sorption isotherms from GCMC simulations after performing a NVT dynamic simulation, from which solubility coefficients are estimated (Eq. 4). The dynamic movement of inserted gas molecules is analyzed after using NPT ensemble. The diffusivity coefficient is calculated from the mean squared displacement of gas molecules along time in the designed structures, as stated in the Einstein relationship (Eq. 6). In contrast to the previous method described in Section 2.1., the permeability calculated solubility and diffusivity coefficient is equal to the membrane permeability. No corrections of self-diffusivity to transport diffusivity are typically considered in this method, being of more importance to the duration of the EMD simulation.

The gas molecules suffer different stages in an EMD simulation: the ballistic, sub diffusive, and Fick's diffusive regimes [78]. The transition of one regime to other can be directly related to the slope of the log(MSD) versus log(t) graph. To determine the diffusivity coefficient considering Einstein relationship, the slope of the double logarithmic relation must tend to the unit. Depending on the polymer density, temperature and the gas penetrant considered, the simulation time required can drastically increase, compared to the modeling of the single filler or a highly permeable polymer.

Regardless of the approach selected in the molecular simulation, a proper experimental characterization will be required for validation. Novel membranes will require experimental efforts to accompany the simulation studies to effectively address the potential of certain materials (as in the case of high-throughput screenings), or the description of molecular-level. While the membrane permeability is typically the key parameter to address a membrane performance, the separation of solubility and diffusivity will even facilitate more the correspondence to simulated data. In the first case, the typical comparison will be through NEMD simulations or the combination of GCMC+EMD. NEMD approach allowed to reliably determine the gas sorption and transport properties and to successfully compare with experimental data, a gas flux is obtained from the simulation. An overestimation of the simulated permeability for the GCMC+EMD approach and an underestimation, in the case of NEMD, is typically obtained. Moreover, while fillers are typically characterized through sorption isotherms (which can be obtained directly from GCMC simulations), studies with pure polymeric materials have traditionally analyzed sorption phenomena through sorption isotherms [75,76], but it is not common for MMMs.

These performance properties, along with the structural properties previously described, will be key for simulation works model MMMs in the future.

#### 4. Recent Developments and Future Perspective

One of the advantages of using molecular simulations is the possibility to simulate conditions that are rarely tested experimentally [33,48]. Additionally, molecular simulations have been positively used in the development of screening studies, since actual membranes and experiments are limited due to difficulties in membrane preparation and experimental characterization [11,31,39]. However, a validation of the designed membrane and forcefield model is important to perceive and relate the simulation results to the real system. In this regard, Section 3 describes the most typical membrane characteristics that will allow a more straightforward model validation. Moreover, the atomic-level analysis will vary depending on the orientation and organization of the MMMs components. The layer-based method infers a key factor in MMMs, which is the interphase polymer-filler analysis [22,69]. With the methodological development of molecular simulations such as NEMD, the number of simulations for such complex systems will increase as computer power increases.

The macroscopic models have evolved over the years from the ideal Maxwell permeation model towards a more descriptive set of parameters, as one of the leading disadvantages of MMMs involves the appearance of nonideal and non-selective structures by the combination of both materials. The layer-based model has efficiently addressed this issue and recent works have introduced externally functionalized and modified fillers, and the incorporation of the third component through different approaches, following the experimental research trend. Therefore, there is an increasing interest leading towards merging the concept of macroscopic models with non-idealities (Table 1) and molecular simulation studies (Table 2). In this regard, NEMD has the potential to merge these two concepts, because it can directly simulate a non-ideality system and check the difference with the macroscopic models [22].

A potential advantage of merging NEMD simulations with a bulk membrane arrangement will allow for analyzing other non-idealities at the interphase caused by particle size, loading, aggregation, and similar, as the ones described in Fig. 1. Additionally, the bulk model has also the advantage of representing the MMM more realistically. Future research efforts with strong and improved computational resources will preferably analyze the gas molecules transport in the bulk model with a heterogeneous distribution of the filler, and a proper description of the gas molecules permeation paths. Additionally, future novel methodologies may integrate the analysis of phenomena such as membrane plasticization and other structural modifications in simulated MMMs.

Therefore, molecular simulations present the potential to be applied in the future to novel and emerging materials for the development of MMMs, especially through computational screening and deep-analysis fundamental methods. However, the extension of their application will strongly depend on the complicated and realistic structure modeling of MMMs and the availability of experimental data for its validation.

### 5. Conclusions

The objective and scope of the study will vary. Here, they have been classified depending on the number of elements included in the atomistic study. The simulation of a unique component in the MMM, that is, the filler, has the advantage of performing high-throughput screening simulation studies. This approach has successfully analyzed different fillers using up-to-the-date and ready-to-be-simulated structural databases, considering easily tunable gas separation target and operation. Their main limitations, however, rely on the availability of practical information for proper simulation of emerging materials and their potential MMMs Typically, this approach considers a combination of atomical-level modeling of the filler with macroscopic information of the polymer. In this regard, the selection of the polymer will be of high importance to properly select the denominated MMM macroscopic permeation model (Table 1).

The successful integration of these studies in emerging fillers, such as COFs, will require coordinated research efforts in both simulation and experimental works.

On the other hand, the description of the whole MMM (polymer, filler, and potential third component) in a common framework has equally attracted research efforts. The main objective in this approach has been limited to a certain combination of materials, and the computational effort in the membrane construction becomes more important. This method allows to directly obtain molecular-level information on the structural and gas separation properties, so as the filler-polymer interactions, along with other factors such as the effect of loading and the operating conditions (temperature, pressure, and gas mixture composition). A systematic route to represent and obtain permeation data from a MMM with different and new pairs of fillers and polymers has trended among the simulation studies, being recently extended to more complex systems. Future works will be expected to include more emerging fillers, such as COFs, along with the polymer in the simulated membrane cell. The attractiveness of this approach is focused on the potential evaluation of a more realistic system, directly compared to experimental data, either membrane structural properties or gas separation performance. The potential of especially analyzing certain phenomena, such as the interactions of the component at the interphase (with and without engineered defects or modifications) and the use of NEMD simulations expand the use of molecular-level description. However, the computational effort to use in several membrane systems limits the combinations to study, being more interesting to perform in those which present the potential for certain gas separation.

Nevertheless, the current state-of-the-art in the use of molecular simulations has proven the versatility and efficiency of using molecular simulations to successfully describe the gas separation in MMMs with different approaches and materials.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge "Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia" through the PhD grant SFRH/BD/139389/2018 (P. Ortiz-Albo). This work was supported by the Associate Laboratory for Green Chemistry - LAQV which is financed by national funds from FCT/MCTES (UIDB/50006/2020 and UIDP/50006/2020) and the Grant from the electric technology research foundation of Chugoku.

### Nomenclature and Acronyms

6FDA	Hexafluoroisopropylidene bisphthalic dianhydride
AIMD	Ab initio molecular dynamics
BPDA-PDA	Poly-(p-phenylene biphenyltetracarboximide)
BTC	Benzene-1.3 5-tricarboxylate
c	Gas concentration
CA	Cellulose acetate
CDB	Cambridge database
CCD MD	Concentration gradient driven molecular dynamics
COF	Concentration gradient driven molecular dynamics
COMPASS	Condensed phase entimized melecular notantial for
COMPASS	atomistic simulation studies
CoRE	Computation-ready, experimental
CPI	Colorless polyimide
CURATED	Clean, uniform, and refined with automatic tracking
DET	from experimental database
DFI	Density functional theory
	Corrected diffusivity coefficient
DAM	Diaminomesitylene
DCP-NEMD	Dual-control plane nonequilibrium molecular dynamics
Dt	Transport diffusivity coefficient
EMD	Equilibrium molecular dynamics
f	Fugacity
FAU	Faujasite zeolite
GCMC	Grand canonical Monte Carlo
IL	Ionic liquid
IL@MOF	IL supported by MOF or IL@MOF composite
J	Flux
L	Membrane Thickness
MD	Molecular dynamics
MFI	Type of zeolite
MMM	Mixed matrix membranes
MOF	Metal organic framework
MSD	Mean square displacement
MWCNT	Multi-walled carbon nanotubes
NEMD	Non-equilibrium molecular dynamics
NPT	Constant Number of particles, pressure and temperature
p	Pressure
P	Gas permeability
PA	Polyamide
PC	Polycarbonate
DDI	Polybanzimidazolo
PCFF	Polymer consistent force field
PDMC	
PDMS	Polydimethylshoxane
PEDA	
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PEGDA	Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate
PI	Polyimide
PIL	Poly-ionic liquid
PIM	Polymer of intrinsic microscopy
PPEES	Poly(1,4-phenylene ether-ether-sulfone)
PS	Polysulfone
PTMSP	Poly(1-trimethylsilyl-1-propyne)
PVA	Poly(vinyl alcohol)
PVDF	Polyvinylidene Fluoride

SPEEK-3	Sulfonated aromatic poly(ether ether ketone)
Т	Temperature
t	Time
TFC	Thin film composite
UFF	Universal force field

### References

- R. Sholl, D; Lively, Seven chemical separations to change the world, Nature. 532 (2016) 435–437. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1038/533316a.
- [2] M. Vinoba, M. Bhagiyalakshmi, Y. Alqaheem, A.A. Alomair, A. Pérez, M.S. Rana, Recent progress of fillers in mixed matrix membranes for CO2 separation: A review, Sep. Purif. Technol. 188 (2017) 431–450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2017.07.051.
- [3] X. Guo, Z. Qiao, D. Liu, C. Zhong, Mixed-matrix membranes for CO2 separation: Role of the third component, J. Mater. Chem. A. 7 (2019) 24738–24759. https://doi.org/10.1039/c9ta09012f.
- [4] M.A. Aroon, A.F. Ismail, T. Matsuura, M.M. Montazer-Rahmati, Performance studies of mixed matrix membranes for gas separation: A review, Sep. Purif. Technol. 75 (2010) 229–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2010.08.023.
- [5] T.T. Moore, W.J. Koros, Non-ideal effects in organic-inorganic materials for gas separation membranes, J. Mol. Struct. 739 (2005) 87– 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molstruc.2004.05.043.
- [6] R. Mahajan, W.J. Koros, Factors controlling successful formation of mixed-matrix gas separation materials, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 39 (2000) 2692–2696. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie990799r.
- [7] B. Hosseini Monjezi, K. Kutonova, M. Tsotsalas, S. Henke, A. Knebel, Current Trends in Metal–Organic and Covalent Organic Framework Membrane Materials, Angew. Chemie Int. Ed. 60 (2021) 2–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.202015790.
- [8] X. Yan, S. Anguille, M. Bendahan, P. Moulin, Ionic liquids combined with membrane separation processes: A review, Sep. Purif. Technol. 222 (2019) 230–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2019.03.103.
- [9] C. Zhu, Y. Peng, W. Yang, Modification strategies for metal-organic frameworks targeting at membrane-based gas separations, Green Chem. Eng. 2 (2021) 17–26. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gce.2020.11.005.
- [10] N. Vergadou, D.N. Theodorou, Molecular modeling investigations of sorption and diffusion of small molecules in Glassy polymers, Membranes (Basel). 9 (2019) 98. https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes9080098.
- [11] S. Keskin, S.A. Altinkaya, A Review on Computational Modeling Tools for MOF-Based Mixed Matrix Membranes, Computation. 7 (2019) 36. https://doi.org/10.3390/computation7030036.
- [12] G. Yilmaz, S. Keskin, Molecular modeling of MOF and ZIF-filled MMMs for CO 2 /N 2 separations, J. Memb. Sci. 454 (2014) 407–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2013.12.045.
- [13] James Clerk Maxwell, A Treatise on Electricity and Magnetism -, Clarendon Press Oxford, UK, 1873. (1873).
- [14] Y.C. Chiew, E.D. Glandt, The effect of structure on the conductivity of a dispersion, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 94 (1983) 90–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9797(83)90238-2.
- [15] T.T. Moore, R. Mahajan, D.Q. Vu, W.J. Koros, Hybrid membrane materials comprising organic polymers with rigid dispersed phases, AIChE J. 50 (2004) 311–321. https://doi.org/10.1002/aic.10029.
- [16] B. Shimekit, H. Mukhtar, T. Murugesan, Prediction of the relative permeability of gases in mixed matrix membranes, J. Memb. Sci. 373 (2011) 152–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MEMSCI.2011.02.038.
- [17] R. Pal, Permeation models for mixed matrix membranes, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 317 (2008) 191–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2007.09.032.
- [18] T.B. Lewis, L.E. Nielsen, Dynamic mechanical properties of particulatefilled composites, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 14 (1970) 1449–1471. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.1970.070140604.
- [19] R. Pal, New Models for Thermal Conductivity of Particulate Composites, J. Reinf. Plast. Compos. 26 (2007) 643–651. https://doi.org/10.1177/0731684407075569.
- [20] J.D. Felske, Effective thermal conductivity of composite spheres in a continuous medium with contact resistance, Int. J. Heat Mass Transf. 47 (2004) 3453–3461.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheatmasstransfer.2004.01.013.

- [21] S. Velioglu, S. Keskin, Simulation of H<sub>2</sub> /CH<sub>4</sub> mixture permeation through MOF membranes using non-equilibrium molecular dynamics, J. Mater. Chem. A. 7 (2019) 2301–2314. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8ta10167a.
- [22] A. Ozcan, R. Semino, G. Maurin, A.O. Yazaydin, Modeling of Gas Transport through Polymer/MOF Interfaces: A Microsecond-Scale Concentration Gradient-Driven Molecular Dynamics Study, Chem. Mater. 32 (2020) 1288–1296. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemmater.9b04907
- [23] L. Hu, K. Clark, T. Alebrahim, H. Lin, Mixed matrix membranes for postcombustion carbon capture: From materials design to membrane engineering, J. Memb. Sci. 644 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2021.120140.
- [24] E. Atci, S. Keskin, Atomically Detailed Models for Transport of Gas Mixtures in ZIF Membranes and ZIF/Polymer Composite Membranes, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 51 (2012) 3091–3100. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie202530f.
- [25] F.J. Keil, R. Krishna, M.O. Coppens, Modeling of diffusion in zeolites, Rev. Chem. Eng. 16 (2000) 71–197. https://doi.org/10.1515/revce.2000.16.2.71
- [26] R. Krishna, J.M. Van Baten, Influence of adsorption thermodynamics on guest diffusivities in nanoporous crystalline materials, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 15 (2013) 7994–8016. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3cp50449b.
- [27] D.S. Sholl, Understanding Macroscopic Diffusion of Adsorbed Molecules in Crystalline Nanoporous Materials via Atomistic Simulations, Acc. Chem. Res. 39 (2006) 403–411. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1021/ar0402199.
- [28] I. Erucar, S. Keskin, Computational screening of metal organic frameworks for mixed matrix membrane applications, J. Memb. Sci. 407– 408 (2012) 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2012.03.050.
- [29] G. Yilmaz, S. Keskin, Molecular modeling of MOF and ZIF-filled MMMs for CO2/N2 separations, J. Memb. Sci. 454 (2014) 407–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2013.12.045.
- [30] C. Altintas, S. Keskin, Molecular Simulations of MOF Membranes and Performance Predictions of MOF/Polymer Mixed Matrix Membranes for CO 2 /CH 4 Separations, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 7 (2019) 2739–2750. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.8b05832.
- [31] H. Daglar, I. Erucar, S. Keskin, Exploring the performance limits of MOF/polymer MMMs for O2/N2 separation using computational screening, J. Memb. Sci. 618 (2021) 118555. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MEMSCI.2020.118555.
- [32] G. Yilmaz, S. Keskin, Predicting the performance of zeolite imidazolate framework/polymer mixed matrix membranes for CO 2, CH 4, and H 2 separations using molecular simulations, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 51 (2012) 14218–14228. https://doi.org/10.1021/ie302290a.
- [33] M. Zhai, T. Yoshioka, J. Yang, J. Wang, D. Zhang, J. Lu, Y. Zhang, Molecular dynamics simulation of small gas molecule permeation through CAU-1 membrane, Chinese J. Chem. Eng. 33 (2021) 104–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CJCHE.2020.08.048.
- [34] T. Yan, Y. Lan, M. Tong, C. Zhong, Screening and Design of Covalent Organic Framework Membranes for CO2/CH4 Separation, ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 7 (2019) 1220–1227. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.8b04858
- [35] M. Tong, Y. Lan, Z. Qin, C. Zhong, Computation-Ready, Experimental Covalent Organic Framework for Methane Delivery: Screening and Material Design, J. Phys. Chem. C. 122 (2018) 13009–13016. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.8b04742
- [36] G.O. Aksu, H. Daglar, C. Altintas, S. Keskin, Computational Selection of High-Performing Covalent Organic Frameworks for Adsorption and Membrane-Based CO2/H2Separation, J. Phys. Chem. C. 124 (2020) 22577–22590. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.0c07062
- [37] O.F. Altundal, Z.P. Haslak, S. Keskin, Combined GCMC, MD, and DFT Approach for Unlocking the Performances of COFs for Methane Purification, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 60 (2021) 12999–13012. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.1c01742.
- [38] D. Ongari, A. V. Yakutovich, L. Talirz, B. Smit, Building a Consistent and Reproducible Database for Adsorption Evaluation in Covalent-Organic Frameworks, ACS Cent. Sci. 5 (2019) 1663–1675. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscentsci.9b00619
- [39] H.C. Gulbalkan, Z.P. Haslak, C. Altintas, A. Uzun, S. Keskin, Assessing CH4/N2 separation potential of MOFs, COFs, IL/MOF, MOF/Polymer, and COF/Polymer composites, Chem. Eng. J. 428 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2021.131239.
- [40] T. Yan, D. Liu, Q. Yang, C. Zhong, Screening and design of COF-based mixed-matrix membrane for CH4/N2 separation, Chinese J. Chem. Eng.

42 (2022) 170-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjche.2021.09.003.

- [41] H.M. Polat, M. Zeeshan, A. Uzun, S. Keskin, Unlocking CO2 separation performance of ionic liquid/CuBTC composites: Combining experiments with molecular simulations, Chem. Eng. J. 373 (2019) 1179–1189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.05.113.
- [42] Z. Zhang, X. Jia, Y. Sun, X. Guo, H. Huang, C. Zhong, Pore engineering of ZIF-8 with ionic liquids for membrane-based CO2 separation: bearing functional group effect, Green Chem. Eng. 2 (2021) 104–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gce.2020.10.007.
- [43] F.P. Kinik, A. Uzun, S. Keskin, Ionic Liquid/Metal-Organic Framework Composites: From Synthesis to Applications, ChemSusChem. 10 (2017) 2842–2863. https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201700716.
- [44] Z. Zhang, X. Cao, C. Geng, Y. Sun, Y. He, Z. Qiao, C. Zhong, Machine learning aided high-throughput prediction of ionic liquid@MOF composites for membrane-based CO2 capture, J. Memb. Sci. 650 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2022.120399.
- [45] H.C. Gulbalkan, Z.P. Haslak, C. Altintas, A. Uzun, S. Keskin, Multi-scale computational screening to accelerate discovery of IL/COF composites for CO2/N2 separation, Sep. Purif. Technol. 287 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2022.120578.
- [46] F. Amirkhani, H.R. Harami, M. Asghari, CO2/CH4 mixed gas separation using poly(ether-b-amide)-ZnO nanocomposite membranes: Experimental and molecular dynamics study, Polym. Test. 86 (2020) 106464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymertesting.2020.106464.
- [47] H. Riasat Harami, M. Asghari, A.H. Mohammadi, Magnetic nanoFe 2 O 3 – incorporated PEBA membranes for CO 2 /CH 4 and CO 2 /N 2 separation: experimental study and grand canonical Monte Carlo and molecular dynamics simulations, Greenh. Gases Sci. Technol. 9 (2019) 306–330. https://doi.org/10.1002/ghg.1846.
- [48] J.H. Zhou, R.X. Zhu, J.M. Zhou, M.B. Chen, Molecular dynamics simulation of diffusion of gases in pure and silica-filled poly(1trimethylsilyl-1-propyne) [PTMSP], Polymer (Guildf). 47 (2006) 5206– 5212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymer.2006.05.041.
- [49] K. Golzar, S. Amjad-Iranagh, M. Amani, H. Modarress, Molecular simulation study of penetrant gas transport properties into the pure and nanosized silica particles filled polysulfone membranes, J. Memb. Sci. 451 (2014) 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2013.09.056.
- [50] J. Ahn, W.J. Chung, I. Pinnau, M.D. Guiver, Polysulfone/silica nanoparticle mixed-matrix membranes for gas separation, J. Memb. Sci. 314 (2008) 123–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2008.01.031.
- [51] K. Asif, S.S.M. Lock, S.A.A. Taqvi, N. Jusoh, C.L. Yiin, B.L.F. Chin, A.C.M. Loy, A molecular simulation study of silica/polysulfone mixed matrix membrane for mixed gas separation, Polymers (Basel). 13 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13132199.
- [52] S.S.M. Lock, K.K. Lau, N. Jusoh, A.M. Shariff, C.H. Gan, C.L. Yiin, An atomistic simulation towards molecular design of silica polymorphs nanoparticles in polysulfone based mixed matrix membranes for CO2/CH4 gas separation, Polym. Eng. Sci. 60 (2020) 3197–3215. https://doi.org/10.1002/pen.25547.
- [53] Q. Jiang, S.S. Tallury, Y. Qiu, M.A. Pasquinelli, Molecular dynamics simulations of the effect of the volume fraction on unidirectional polyimide-carbon nanotube nanocomposites, Carbon N. Y. 67 (2014) 440– 448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbon.2013.10.016.
- [54] H. Riasat Harami, F. Riazi Fini, M. Rezakazemi, S. Shirazian, Sorption in mixed matrix membranes: Experimental and molecular dynamic simulation and Grand Canonical Monte Carlo method, J. Mol. Liq. 282 (2019) 566–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2019.03.047.
- [55] H. Riasat, F. Amirkhani, S. Ahmad, M. Rezakazemi, H. Riasat Harami, F. Amirkhani, S.A. Khadem, M. Rezakazemi, M. Asghari, S. Shirazian, Mass transfer through PDMS/zeolite 4A MMMs for hydrogen separation: Molecular dynamics and grand canonical Monte Carlo simulations, Elsevier, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.icheatmasstransfer.2019.05.005.
- [56] M. Asghari, M. Mosadegh, H. Riasat Harami, Supported PEBA-zeolite 13X nano-composite membranes for gas separation: Preparation, characterization and molecular dynamics simulation, Chem. Eng. Sci. 187 (2018) 67–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ces.2018.04.067.
- [57] M. Dehghani, M. Asghari, A.F. Ismail, A.H. Mohammadi, Molecular dynamics and Monte Carlo simulation of the structural properties, diffusion and adsorption of poly (amide-6-b-ethylene oxide)/Faujasite mixed matrix membranes, J. Mol. Liq. 242 (2017) 404–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2017.07.034.
- [58] M. Mosadegh, F. Amirkhani, H. Riasat Harami, M. Asghari, M.J. Parnian, Effect of Nafion and APTEOS functionalization on mixed gas separation of PEBA-FAU membranes: Experimental study and MD and GCMC simulations, Sep. Purif. Technol. 247 (2020) 116981.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2020.116981.

- [59] R.C. Dutta, S.K. Bhatia, Structure and Gas Transport at the Polymer-Zeolite Interface: Insights from Molecular Dynamics Simulations, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 10 (2018) 5992–6005. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.7b17470.
- [60] L. Zhang, Z. Hu, J. Jiang, Metal–Organic Framework/Polymer Mixed-Matrix Membranes for H 2 /CO 2 Separation: A Fully Atomistic Simulation Study, J. Phys. Chem. 116 (2012) 19268–19277. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp3067124.
- [61] M. Balçık, S.B. Tantekin-Ersolmaz, M.G. Ahunbay, Interfacial analysis of mixed-matrix membranes under exposure to high-pressure CO2, J. Memb. Sci. 607 (2020) 118147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2020.118147.
- [62] R. Semino, N.A. Ramsahye, A. Ghoufi, G. Maurin, Microscopic Model of the Metal-Organic Framework/Polymer Interface: A First Step toward Understanding the Compatibility in Mixed Matrix Membranes, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 8 (2016) 809–819. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.5b10150.
- [63] R. Semino, J.C. Moreton, N.A. Ramsahye, S.M. Cohen, G. Maurin, Understanding the origins of metal-organic framework/polymer compatibility, Chemical Science 9 315–324. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7SC04152G
- [64] R. Semino, J.P. Durholt, R. Schmid, G. Marin, Multiscale modeling of the HKUST-1/polyvinyl alcohol) interface: From an atomistic to a coarse graining approach, J. Phys. Chem. C. 121 (2017) 21491–21496. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.7b07090.
- [65] R. Semino, N.A. Ramsahye, A. Ghoufi, G. Maurin, Role of MOF surface defects on the microscopic structure of MOF/ polymer interfaces: A computational study of the ZIF-8/PIMs systems, Microporous Mesoporous Mater. 254 (2017) 184–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micromeso.2017.02.031.
- [66] D. Fan, A. Ozcan, N.A. Ramsahye, D. Zhao, G. Maurin, R. Semino, Is Porosity at the MOF/Polymer Interface Necessarily an Obstacle to Optimal Gas-Separation Performances in Mixed Matrix Membranes?, ACS Mater. Lett. 2021 (2021) 350. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsmaterialslett.0c00560.
- [67] T.H. Lee, A. Ozcan, I. Park, D. Fan, J.K. Jang, P.G.M. Mileo, S.Y. Yoo, J.S. Roh, J.H. Kang, B.K. Lee, Y.H. Cho, R. Semino, H.W. Kim, G. Maurin, H.B. Park, Disclosing the Role of Defect-Engineered Metal– Organic Frameworks in Mixed Matrix Membranes for Efficient CO2 Separation: A Joint Experimental-Computational Exploration, Adv. Funct. Mater. 31 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1002/adfm.202103973.
- [68] I. Salahshoori, Aziz Babapoor, Ahmad Seyfaee, Elevated performance of the neat, hybrid and composite membranes by the addition of nanoparticles (ZIF-67): A molecular dynamics study, (123AD). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00289-021-03673-2.
- [69] D. Fan, A. Ozcan, N.A. Ramsahye, G. Maurin, R. Semino, Putting Forward NUS-8-CO 2 H/PIM-1 as a Mixed Matrix Membrane for CO 2 Capture, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces. 14 (2022) 16820–16829. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.2c00090.
- [70] X. Kong, J. Liu, An Atomistic Simulation Study on POC/PIM Mixed-Matrix Membranes for Gas Separation, J. Phys. Chem. C. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.9b03318.
- [71] q. zhang, h. li, s. chen, j. duan, w. jin, mixed-matrix membranes with soluble porous organic molecular cage for highly efficient c3h6/c3h8 separation, j. memb. sci. 611 (2020) 118288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2020.118288.
- [72] H.R. Harami, A. Dashti, P.G. Pirsalami, S.K. Bhatia, A.F. Ismail, P.S. Goh, Molecular Simulation and Computational Modeling of Gas Separation through Polycarbonate/p-Nitroaniline/Zeolite 4A Mixed Matrix Membranes, Cite This Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 59 (2020) 16772–16785. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.0c02827.
- [73] M.E. Kojabad, A.A. Babaluo, A. Tavakoli, R.L.M. Sofla, H.G. Kahnamouei, Comparison of acidic and basic ionic liquids effects on dispersion of alumina particles in Pebax composite membranes for CO2/N2 separation: Experimental study and molecular simulation, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 9 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2021.106116.
- [74] R.C. Dutta, S.K. Bhatia, Interfacial Engineering of MOF-Based Mixed Matrix Membrane through Atomistic Simulations, J. Phys. Chem. C. 124 (2019) 594–604. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.9b09384.
- [75] M. Heuchel, M. Böhning, O. Hölck, M.R. Siegert, D. Hofmann, Atomistic packing models for experimentally investigated swelling states induced by CO2 in glassy polysulfone and poly(ether sulfone), J. Polym. Sci. Part B Polym. Phys. 44 (2006) 1874–1897. https://doi.org/10.1002/polb.20844.
- [76] M. Balçık, S.B. Tantekin-Ersolmaz, I. Pinnau, M.G. Ahunbay, CO2/CH4 mixed-gas separation in PIM-1 at high pressures: Bridging atomistic

simulations with process modeling, J. Memb. Sci. 640 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2021.119838.

- [77] N. Shiva Prasad, R. Babarao, S. Madapusi, S. Sridhar, N.R. Choudhury, S.K. Bhargava, Residual solvent induced physical morphology and gas permeation in polyamide-imide membrane: Experimental investigation and molecular simulations, Eur. Polym. J. 165 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpolymj.2022.111012.
- [78] Q. Yang, W.I. Whiting, Molecular-level insight of the differences in the diffusion and solubility of penetrants in polypropylene, poly(propylmethylsiloxane) and poly(4-methyl-2-pentyne), J. Memb. Sci. 549 (2018) 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2017.12.011.